Brigham Young University Law School
BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1949

The Valley Mortuary v. Lionel Fairbanks : Brief of
Appellant on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

This is an appeal by the defendant from the judgment
of the DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL
DISTRICT after refusal to grant a jury upon due demand,
holding that a contract between the parties precluded the
defendant from performing funeral services in a specified
territory, awarding damages for past alleged breaches and
enjoining the defendant from performing services in said
territory in the future.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Under date of August 6, 1945, Lionel Fairbanks, de-
fendant and appellant, doing business as Lionel Fairbanks
Mortuary, entered into an agreement with Aura C. Hatch,
acting for and on behalf of the Valley Mortuary, plaintiff
and respondent herein. This agreement was subsequently
modified as to paragraph five (5) thereof so that the agree-
ment after its modification reads as follows (plaintiff’s Ex-
hibit “A”):

“AGREEMENT

This agreement made this 6th day of August, 1945,
by and between Lionel Fairbanks Mortuary of Eureka,
Utah, and the Valley Mortuary a Corpn. of Utah
County with main office at Provo, Utah.

Now, Therefore, the seller Lionel Fairbanks agrees
to furnish the Valley Mortuary buyer, with a Warran-
ty deed for the Mortuary property in Eureka, with ab-
stract brought up to date to the satisfaction of the
Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork.

2. To furnish the buyer with a certificate of title, free
and clear, to the Buick Hearse mentioner in the inven-
tory.

3. To furnish the buyer with a BILL OF SALE to the
mortuary equipement, caskets, supplies, and personal
property set forth in the attached inventory.

4, To deliver to the buyer possession of the premises
herein referred to, together with all the equipment,
fixtures, etc. as set out immediately on the signing of
this agreernent.

5. That the said sellor will not for a period of (25)
twenty five years, from the date of this contract, op-
erate a mortuary or funeral business in Utah Co. Pro-

d by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
hy the Utah State Library.
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vo & South of Provo or Juab Counties, in his own name
or through a subsidiary or third party.

6. The sellor agrees that all bills, accounts, and ob-
ligations and taxes incurred prior to August 6, 1945,
shall be paid by him.

/S/ Lionel Fairbanks
LIONEL FAIRBANKS MORTUARY

/s/ Aura C. Hatch
PRES. VALLEY MORTUARY”

Exhibit “A” also includes the inventory attached to the
contract, which itemized the following property, which was
to be conveyed under the agreement:

“INVENTORY AT THE FAIRBANKS MORTUARY,
EUREKA, UTAH

As of August 6th, 1945

CASKETS

1 State (Pink) $95.00
1 “  ChocKlet 77.00
1 “  oct. 95.00
1 “  Red 95.00
1 “  Sil Rivera 95.00
1 “  OQOrec. 87.50
1 “  Mohogney Pol 187.50
1 “  Corduary Rose 54.00
1 “ ” Blue 54.00
1 Oct. 65.00
1 Tan 37.00
1 Lamb 35.00
3 2/0 White Lamb. 23.25

5 Rough Boxes 40.00

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library.
Library Services ar
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FURNITURE & FIXTURES

Drapes and Curtains
Underwood Typewritter

1 Electric Heater

Liawn Mower

Ash Trays on Stands

Monkey Stove

Heater

Plain Chairs

Mohar Divan

Lether Divan

Other cghairs

Roletop Desk & Chair

Library Table

9-12 rugs

Coffee Tables

Center table

Floor Lamps

 Table Lamp

- Hall Tree

o)

HHWHNMWHFOMHEKHEFENDR

SUPPLIES

184 Bottles Embalming Fluid.
Mens Suits
Womens Dresses 3
Womens Slippers

. L. D S Garment

Buick Hearse 1935
Casket vail
Frigid Lowering Device
~ Set Green grave drapes
Metal Emb. Table -
Metal Streatcher
: ‘Vlglal Lamp
Crucifix

WHEHHER R B BRon

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library.
Library Services ana

ed by the Utah State Library.
in errors.

ided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services



5

Set Embalming Inst.
Make up Kit.
Church Trucks
Display

8 Sheets
Pillow slips”

DN DN DN DN e

On or about the month of September, 1945, Lionel Fair-
banks approached Aura C. Hatch, president and manager
of the Valley Mortuary, and told Mr. Hatch that Fairbanks
wanted to build a mortuary or funeral home in Orem or
American Fork, and Hatch, in his own handwriting, added
by interlineation in paragraph five (5) of such agreement,
after the words “mortuary or funeral business in Provo,
Utah” the words “co. and south of Provo” so that paragraph
five (5) of the agreement, after the interlineation, is as
shown above.

Lionel Fairbanks built a mortuary or funeral home in
Orem about seven (7) miles north of the north city limits
of Provo, Utah, (Tr. 16) and began operation thereof on
December 22, 1946 (Tr. 16). Thereafter Fairbanks picked
up bodies in Provo and in Utah County south of Provo and
in Juab County and conducted funerals in these localities,
particularly in the city of Eureka in Juab County (Tr. 18,
19, 33). Fairbanks operated only one establishment where
some funerals were held, and all of the bodies were em-
balmed, and that establishment was in Orem, seven (7)
miles North of Provo (Tr. 63).

Almost two (2) years after Fairbanks began the oper-
ation of his funeral business in Orem, Valley Mortuary in
August of 1948 instituted an action in the Fourth Judicial
District Court against appellant Lionel Fairbanks, claiming
violation of the contract, plaintiff’s Exhibit “A.” The words

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Librar
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of the complaint, eliminating the formal parts, are as fol-
lows: S '

“Comes now the plaintiff and for cause of action
against defendant alleges: :

1. That the plaintiff now is and at all of the times
hereinafter mentioned has been a corporation duly or-
ganized under and by virtue of the laws of the State
of Utah, with its principal place of business at Provo,
Utah.

2. That the defendant Lionel Fairbanks now is -
and at all of the times herein mentioned has been a
resident of Utah County, State of Utah, and now is
doing business in Utah County as the Lionel Fairbanks
Mortuary.

3. That prior to the 6th day of August 1945,
defendant was operating and conducting a mortuary
and funeral business in Juab and Utah Counties, with
his principal place of business at Eureka, Utah. That
on or about the said 6th day of August, 1945, plaintiff
and defendant entered into an oral agreement whereby
the plaintiff promised and agreed to pay defendant the
sum of Five Thousand and Five Hundred Dollars
($5,500), for and in consideration of the defendant
agreeing to perform certain conditions on his part, the
terms of which were to be incorporated into a written
agreement, which written agreement was made and en-
tered into on the said 6th day of August, 1945, a copy -
of which agreement follows:” -

| (Thereafter there is set out the contract (plaintiff’s Ex-
hibit “A”), except paragraph 5 of the contract as shown in
the complaint was quoted somewhat incorrectly as follows:) -

‘5. That the said sellor will not for a period of
-(25)) twenty five years, from the date of this contract,
-operate a mortuary or funeral business in Provo, Utah

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library.
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and in Utah County south of Provo, or Juab County,
in his own name or through a subsidiary or third par-
ty.’

4. That in consideration of the foregoing writ-
ten promises made by defendant and in reliance there-
on, plaintiff paid the defendant the sum of Five Thou-
sand and Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500).

5. That the defendant performed the conditions
of the agreement as above set forth except that de-
fendant, shortly after the signing of said agreement
and the payment to him by plaintiff of the sum of Five
Thousand and Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500), began
operating a mortuary and funeral business in Provo
and in the area south of Provo in Utah County and in
Juab County in his own name, in that he solicits and
procures customers in those places and holds funerals
there.

6. That by reason of the breach of said contract
by defendant and the operatian of a mortuary and fun-
eral business in Provo and in Utah County south of
Provo and in Juab County, plaintiff’s business has been
thereby lessened and damaged to plaintiff’s injury in

the sum of Twenty Thousand ($20,000) Dollars.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays judgment:

1. That the Court issue a permanent injunction
and restraining order enjoining the defendant and his
agents and assigns from operating or conducting a
mortuary or funeral business in Juab County and in
Prevo City and in that of Utah County south of Pro-
vo City until August 6th, 1970.

2. For the sum of Twenty Thousand Dollars
($20,000) damages.

3. For the costs of this suit and such other and
further relief as to the Court may seem equitable and
just.”

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Librar
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Defendant demurred to the complamt on the ground
that the complamt did not state facts sufflclent to consti-
tute a cause of actlon against the deffendant The Demur-
rer. was overruled. Thereupon the defendant filed his Ans-
~wer which, eliminating the formal parts, is as follows:

~ “Comes now the defendant in the above entitled
~action, and without waiving the Demurrer heretofore
filed herem by way of Answer, to the complaint of the
plalntlff admlts, denies,, and alleges as follows:

1. Replymg to Paragraph 1 of plalntlff’s Com-
,plalnt defendant admits the same.

2 Replymg to paragraph 2 of plaintiff’s Com-
plamt defendant admits the same.

, “3. Replymg to paragraph 3 of plaintiff’s Com-
'plalnt defendant admits the same, exceptlng that de-
o fendant alleges that paragraph No. 5 of said alleged
" written agreement read and reads as follows:

. ‘That the said seller will not for a period of (25)
twenty five years, from the date of this contract, oper-
ate a mortuary or funeral business in Utah County,

“Provo and South or in Juab Counties, in his own name
“““or through a SUbSidiary or third party.’

.. .In addltlon thereto, the said agreement had at-
. tached ‘and has attached, an inventory of the property
sold other than the mortuary building and lot itself.

. 4 Answerlng paragraph 4 defendant admits that
-,-.;jthe plalntlff corporatlon paid $5,500.00, pursuant to
.. the terms of the agreement; but not having informa-
" :tion with which to form a belief as to the truth or fal-
g_;.,f,81ty of the allegatlon contained in the balance of said
. .paragraph, the defendant denies the same,

ided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
ed by the Utah State Library.
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5. Answering paragraph 5, the defendant admits
that he performed on his part the conditions of the
agreement, set forth therein; but denies the allega-
tion in said paragraph to the effect that defendant,
after the signing of the agreement and the payment
of the $5,500.00, began operating a mortuary or fun-
eral business in Provo, Utah and in Utah County, South
of Provo and in Juab County; but alleges as an affir-
mative matter that he began operating a mortuary
and funeral business in Orem, Utah, located approxi-
mately five (5) miles north of Provo, and that he has
an investment of approximately $75,000.00 in such
business. Defendant admits that he has served pat-
rons who have resided in Provo and in parts of Utah
County, south of Provo and in parts of Juab County,
and has performed isolated services in connection with
funerals held therein; but denies the balance of said
paragraph, and denies specifically that he has at any
time since said agreement was entered into operated
a mortuary and/or funeral business in Prove or in
the area south of Provo or in Juab County.

6. Answering paragraph 6, the defendant denies
the same and the whole thereof.

7. Defendant denies each and every other mate-
rial allegation contained in plaintiff’s complaint, not
heretofore admitted, modified or denied.

By way of further defense and as an affirmative
matter, defendant alleges as follows:

(a) That Aura C. Hatch, president of the plain-
tiff corporation, at about the time referred to in plain-
tiff’s complaint, prepared the alleged agreement and
signed the same on behalf of said corporation, and at
the time of its preparation and execution it was the
understanding and intent of the defendant and plain-
tiff and its officers and agents and president that the

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. ided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services ana ¢ ed by the Utah State Library.
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_-said . agreement should and did provide that the de-

" fendant should not mamtaln a building or other physi-

_cal establishment for a mortuary business in Provo,

- Utah in Utah County South of Provo, or in Juab Coun-

" ty; but defendant alleges that it was not at that time

or at any time, the intent of the parties or their under-

standing, and that the agreement does not provide that

- the defendant could not conduct funerals within . said

_ territory or serve patrons therein residing, or accept,
sohc1t or perform serv1ces therein.

(b) Defendant further alleges that the tangible

- property conveyed pursuant to the terms of the agree-
‘ment, consisting of the mortuary building and lot and
-~ the funeral equipment, including the hearse, was, at the
~ time it was conveyed, of a reasonable and fair value of
at least $5,500.00; and that to require the defendant
not to: accept business in Provo, and in Utah County,
“South of Provo or in Juab County, would not be fair
- and would be arbitrary and unconscionable and not
- within the terms of the alleged agreement.

, (c) . Defendant further alleges that to require
* ‘the defendant to refuse business in or from Provo, and

in Utah County South of Provo and in Juab County,
. «would be arbitrary and unfair and in unreasonable re-
., .straint of trade and injurious to the public welfare.

, ’WHEREFORE defendant prays that the Com-
: fplamt of the plamtlff be dlsmlssed ”?

= The pl,aintiff demurred to the defendant’s Answer and
¢ hsequently waived his Demurrer. - The plaintiff also filed
.. lotion to Strike and a Motion for Judgment on the plead-
ir: Ivs The Motlon for Judgment on the pleadlngs was de-
ni >d and the plalntlff subsequently waived his Motlon to

St'uke

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library.

A the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services an

e Utah State Library.
Ors.




11

Defendant duly and timely demanded that the matter
be tried by a jury (Tr. 3-7). The right to jury trial was
by the court denied and the matter was heard before the
court over the objection of the defendant (Tr. 3-7). The
court, in making this ruling, stated as follows:

THE COURT: “The Court, of course, indicated
its conception of the law respecting the significance of
the prayer of the complaint to be as supported by the
authority that Judge Young cited, that it isn't part
of the allegation, but it may be looked to to determine
the nature of the relief sought, There is an allegation
of acts which the plaintiff contends are being carried
on at the present time, which the plaintiff contends
are in violation of the contract, and there is an impli-
cation of it being on occasions of more than one, at any
rate: Solicits, and procures, customers in those places
and holds funerals therein. The reasonable interpre-
tation being that there be numerous, at least exceed-
ing one such act.

The Court conceives in light of the prayer for the
relief the paramount object of the proceeding is injunc-
tive, that there is an allegation of violation which pres-
ently continues, and where that’s supported by the ref-
erence to the answer of the defendant, claiming a right
to that, because to enforce the plaintiff’s interpretation
of the contract would result in unlawful restraint of
trade; that in view of such matter, the question is pri-
marily equitable, that the damage action or the dam-
age claimed in this respect, to the matter, is incidental
to the primary relief; it being primarily equitable in the
Court’s mind, the parties are not entitled as a right t:
a jury to try the cause. And in as much as no jury i
presently in attendance and this is the day set and i:
appearing, at any rate, that very likely if the questio
had been raised prior to this date, the Court may hav -
refused the application for a jury, it is now ordere 1l

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Librar
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“that the application be rejected and that the clerk
_return to the defendant the fee heretofore paid for the
jury. ' |

You will want to make your exception to that?

MR. SHERMAN CHRISTENSON: “Yes. If the
Court please, the ruling is not based upon the fact that
a jury was not timely demanded, as I understand? The
record shows that?”

. THE COURT: -“No, I make no point of that. Mrs.
Carter was checking that and I understood that the
fee was paid. I think the record may show that the

fee was paid in advance of the setting date and in con-

formance with the rule of the court, which places the

question entirely upon the discretion of the Court and

its interpretation of the cause as an equitable action
- primarily, so that the record is clear.”

| MR. ‘SHERMAN CHRISTENSON: “Then the de-
fendant excepts to the ruling of the Court denying the
defendant’s right to a trial by jury pursuant to his de-
‘mand, and also excepts to the holding that this is pri-
marily an equitable action and not primarily a law ac-
tion; and that no jury is obtainable as a matter of
 right. And further excepts to the ruling of the Court
denying the request for-a jury setting.” (Tr. 6, 7, 8).

* The matter was thereafter heard before the Court
which in its Findings of Fact assumed to determine that
plamtlff had been damaged in the amount of Seven Hund-
red Flfty and NO ) /100 ($750.00) Dollars by defendant for
bre_ach of the contract, and found with respect to certain
funerals held by the defendant in Provo, and in Utah Coun-
ty south of Provo and in Juab County, that there had been
a v1olat10n The Court of course, found that the contract
had been executed between the parties.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library.
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The Conclusions of Liaw herein are very interesting,
and, eliminating the formal parts, are as follows:

“l. That on the 6th day of August, 1945, plaintiff
and defendant entered into a contract whereby the de-
fendant agreed, for a valuable consideration paid to
him by plaintiff, that he would not, for a period of
twenty-five years from that date, operate a mortuary
or funeral business in Utah County or Juab County;
that said contract was not and is not in restraint of
trade and its terms are definite and certain.

‘2. That the contract dated August 6, 1945, was
later modified so as to exclude the area north of Provo
in Utah County from its terms.

3. That the defendant, in going to Provo and
there obtaining and accepting the dead bodies of those
who at the time of their deaths were residents of the
area north of Provo in Utah County and thereafter
transporting said bodies into Provo and into Utah
County south of Provo and into Juab County for fun-
eral services and burial did not violate the terms of
the contract mentioned in paragraph “1” hereof.

4. That defendant, in going to Provo and into
the area south of Provo in Utah County and into Juab
County and there receiving and accepting the bodies
of deceased who at the time of their death were either-
residents of Provo or of the area south of Prove in
Utah County or of Juab County, violated the terms of
the contract in that in so doing he engaged in the fun-
eral business in said area.

5. That defendant, in conducting funeral services
and burials in Provo and in Utah County south of Pro-
vo and in Juab County, when he had not prepared those

ided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
ed by the Utah State Library.
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 bodies for burial violated the terms of the contract in
that in so doing he engaged in the funeral business in
said area. :

6, That plaintiff is entitled to a judgment of this
Court in the sum of $750.00 damages and for its costs
herein expended.”

After making and entering his Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law, the Court, eliminating the formal parts,
decreed as follows: :

“It is hereby ordered, adjudged and decreed that
the defendant, Lionel Fairbanks, his attorneys, agents,
servants and employees, is and are hereby restrained
and enjoined until August 6, 1970, from engaging in or

performing any of the following business or functions
within the area of Provo City and in Utah County south
of Provo City and in Juab County, to-wit:

1. From operating a mortuary therein.

2. From accepting or receiving any body for
preparation and burial in cases where, at the time of
death, the decéased was a resident of such area.

3. From conducting funerals and burials where
the body has been prepared for burial at a mortuary
not owned and operated by the defendant.

* 4. " From advertising that he is conducting a mor-
* “tuary establishment or doing a funeral business.

5. It is further ordered, adjudged, and decreed
“that plaintiff have and recover from said defendant,
- Lionel Fairbanks, the sum of $750.00 as damages to-

gether with its costs herein expended.”

It is fi'om this decree that the plaintiff appeals.
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STATEMENT OF ERRORS UPON WHICH DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT RELIES FOR A REVERSAL OF
THE JUDGMENT AND DECREE OF THE COURT
BELOW.

1. The Court erred in holding that the complaint sta-
ted facts sufficient to give the Court jurisdiction to grant
equitable relief.

2. The Court erred in refusing the defendant the right
to have the case tried by a jury.

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