1949

The Valley Mortuary v. Lionel Fairbanks : Brief of Respondent on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

THE VALLEY MORTUARY, a
Corporation,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

LIONEL FAIRBANKS,

Defendant and Appellant.

CASE NO. 7350

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

The matters appearing in the Judgment Roll are set forth in extenso in the first 14 pages of Appellant's Brief, and reflect the background and basis for the issues involved on the appeal. For convenience of the Court in keeping clear the matters involved in the discussion, we shall, in this brief, refer to the parties by name; the defendant and appellant as FAIRBANKS and the plaintiff as THE VALLEY. As we understand the pleadings, the record, and Fairbanks' brief, there is really only one question involved on this appeal which arises as follows:

Fairbanks, a mortician or undertaker, at Eureka, sold his establishment, stock in trade, and good will, to The Val-

ley for a consideration of \$5,500.00 under a written agreement containing, inter alia, a provision, that Fairbanks would not for a specified period operate a "mortuary or funeral business in Utah or Juab Counties, in his own name or through a subsidiary or third party." Fairbanks received his money, turned the physical property to The Valley, and left the restricted area. Sometime thereafter he sought and was granted a modification of the agreement eliminating from the restricted area that part of Utah County lying north of Provo City. He then set up an establishment and entered into a mortuary, funeral, or undertaking business in Orem, north of Provo. Shortly thereafter, in the operation of the mortuary business, Fairbanks began an invasion of Provo, Utah County south of Provo, and Juab County, for undertaking business; receiving bodies, embalming, selling caskets, arranging and conducting funerals and burials in the restricted area. His activities in this regard continued to increase and expand until this action was commenced by The Valley to enjoin Fairbanks from violating the restrictive clauses of his contract of sale, and as an incident, sought damages for the past breaches of contract. The principal issue involved, the nub of the controversy, the crux of the case, is as to whether or not injunctive relief is a proper remedy in the action. All other matters raised or discussed are merely incidental to this question. Fairbanks raises and argues this question in three of the five points (first, third and fifth) discussed in his brief. Point 2 admittedly loses its significance if the action sounds in equity, and Point 4 consists of a single statement that in Fairbanks' opinion the Court did not give enough weight to some of his testimony.

POINT 1

Is equitable or injunctive relief a proper remedy for the Court to apply in this action? Fairbanks assails the injunction: first, from a standpoint of pleading; second, as a matter of construction of the contract.

The question of pleading is posed by Fairbanks' contention that the complaint does not lay a basis for the interposition of the Court's equitable powers. Like many other activities of man, the art of pleading under common law gradually moved and degenerated itself into a formalism, a rule of thumb, a practice where a rule and not a reason was the guide. The pleader was required to make his facts fit the stereotyped form of pleading, rather than the pleading fit the facts. The basis and objective of the code—the innovation brought about by it—was to make the facts and not the form the invoking power, the force that calls and brings into play the powers and facilities of the Court. A pleading is to be tested, not by its form, but by its content. It follows, therefore, that facts and not conclusions must be pleaded. It is from the factual substance, not the conclusions the pleader may have drawn, that a pleading must be tested.

What must be alleged in a particular case depends upon what is essential to a cause of action in that sort of case. In any given case we are not helped much by references or citations to general rules of pleading. The application of such rules vary with the nature of the cause of action. We do not mould our facts to fit rules of pleading—we plead the facts, and then through the processes of legal reason, determine if the facts stated show a picture or condition which calls for the Court to determine the rights involved,

and to react in a certain way to achieve that purpose. 3 Bancroft Code Pldg., 2553, 4. The first question, therefore, as to the sufficiency of any pleading is: What is essential to a right of action in a case of that kind? The second question: Are those essentials found within the pleading?

Let us apply these tests to the pleading in the case at bar. In an action brought for violation of a contract to refrain from entering business in competition with the person to whom the violator of the contract has sold his business and good will, what facts are essential to show a proper cause or justification for the exercise of the equitable powers of a Court? In short—what facts must plaintiff plead in a case such as this to lay a foundation for injunctive relief? He must show: An interest in the subject matter; an invasion by defendant of a right plaintiff has therein; and facts from which the Court may say that equitable relief is the most efficient and effective remedy to be applied in the situation to protect the parties in their rights.

It is not an uncommon practice to quote the old worn, hackneyed expressions that one must plead inadequacy of legal remedies, and irreparable injury before equity intervenes. Such expressions originated and became shopworn, if not hallowed, in the days and practice when law and equity were separate and distinct, administered by separate tribunals, under different rules of practice; and when equity was considered not a right but a benevolence of the King, which he could refuse or extend in those cases where the law and its procedure, because of its universality, was inadequate. With the adoption of our code, the distinction between legal and equitable forums, between legal and equitable practice, was abolished, and law and equity is now administered by the same Courts, in the same actions, be-

tween the same parties, being parts of the same jurisdiction, and applied by the Court as seems proper, to accomplish the results which the facts indicate the parties are entitled to, and which should therefore be the results of the action. Constitution of Utah, Art. VIII, Sec. 19; Norbach vs. Board of Directors, 84 Ut. 506, 37 Pac. (2) 339; Spanish Fork West Field v. District Court, 99 Ut. 527, 104 Pac. (2) 353.

It thus appears that the adequacy of the complaint is determined by this test: Are there **facts** stated from which the Court can say that suit for damages would not be an adequate, efficient and effective remedy to protect the rights plaintiff has under its contract?

The complaint alleges and shows that Fairbanks sold a going business to The Valley for a substantial sum of money, and that part of the consideration The Valley received for the money so paid Fairbanks was the good will of Fairbanks and of the business sold in the restricted area, coupled with a covenant by Fairbanks not to enter or engage in competition with The Valley within the restricted zone for a specified time. It alleges in definite and positive terms that Fairbanks is actively and openly violating his restrictive covenant, injuring The Valley's business, and undermining the good will he had sold and for which he had been paid; and concludes with a prayer for an injunction; then for damages and costs. In an assault such as this upon the complaint those facts are admitted, as they are upon demurrer. (At the time the injunction was granted Fairbanks had answered, admitting he was operating a funeral business in the restricted area, and alleging in effect that he intends to continue so to do. See paragraph 5 and subdivisions (a) and (c) of Fairbanks' further and affirmative defense.)

Fairbanks states that the only basis for equitable relief is the prayer, and that the prayer is not a part of the complaint. True, the prayer is not part of the allegations, but it is the assertion of the kind, nature, and extent of relief plaintiff seeks; and the relief he can obtain is limited by the prayer. It is therefore to be considered by the Court in construing and interpreting the pleading, since the Court must determine whether the party has stated a case for the relief which he seeks.

“The character of the bill depends upon the prayer, which defines its objects, and points out the defendants and the remedies and redress sought.” 10 Ency. Pldg. and Prac. 961.

The prayer serves to show the kind of relief to which plaintiff conceives himself to be entitled, and indicate the object which he seeks to accomplish. *Arrington v. Liscom*, 34 Cal. 365, 94 Am. Dec. 722; *Rochester v. Wells Fargo*, 87 Kan. 164, 123 Pac. 729, 40 L. R. A. (N. S.) 1095.

O. G. Merager v. Alex Turnbull, 2 Wash. (2d) 711, 99 Pac. (2) 434, 127 A. L. R. 1142, 1151, a case involving a sale of undertaking business, the Court says:

“The argument of appellants that the respondent’s failure to raise in the pleadings or argue at the trial the issue of the right of Bruce Turnbull to use the new building precludes the relief of enjoining use of the building by Bruce Turnbull is answered by the prayer of respondent in his complaint for injunctive relief against both appellants and for such other and further relief as might to the court appear just and equitable in the premises. Under that prayer the trial court had the right to grant any and all relief which was deemed justified under the circumstances.”

Where the complaint sets out facts which will support either an action at law or a suit in equity, the character of the action may be determined by the relief demanded. Ency. Pldg. and Prac. 16; 777-8.

“Where the facts stated entitle the plaintiff to elect between two remedies, to either of which the facts show him to be entitled, the prayer may determine the character of the action, because it is in itself an election. Corry v. Gaynor, 21 O St. 277.”

“Whether a petition is at law or in equity is to be determined by the prayer and conclusion. Pella Christian Church v. Scholte, 2 Ia. 27.”

Where there are two statutes prescribing the same form of complaint in (1) an action for the recovery of money judgment and (2) an action foreclosing a lien for taxes, the prayer of the complaint will determine the nature of the action. People v. Mier, 24 Cal. 61.

1 Bancroft Code Pldg. 35. The prayer may be consulted in determining whether a pleading was intended to include any specific character of relief, or in interpreting the language of a complaint or petition. Where the facts may constitute two or more different causes of action, and may authorize different judgments, the prayer becomes significant, and may determine the nature of the action. Aid v. Bowerman, 132 Wash. 319, 232 Pac. 297; Nevada County, etc. Canal Co. v. Kidd, 37 Cal. 282; Arrington v. Liscom, 34 Cal. 365, 94 Am. Dec. 722; People v. Mier, 24 Cal. 61.

“In case the pleader has stated a cause of action in equity and also one at law in such a manner as to have it uncertain which one he intends to pursue, resort may be had to the prayer for relief to determine the character of the action. Kinns v. Gaslin, 24 Neb. 310, 38 N. W. 797.”

The injunction here involved is not an injunction pendente lite, but one entered after issue joined and full hearing had, and submission of the cause upon the merits. There is no claim that the evidence before the Court did not, or does not, justify the injunction. The contention is that the complaint did not set forth facts showing the need of equitable restraints. Fairbanks argues the point as though the question were one arising upon a temporary writ issued upon the complaint, rather than a writ issued after trial upon the merits. We shall advert to this fact later. At the moment we shall confine ourselves to appellant's position.

For a pleader to say that "he has no adequate remedy at law" or that "his legal remedies are inadequate" adds nothing to his pleading; it states no facts and is merely a conclusion of the pleader. 3 Bancroft Cook Pldg. 1548; McBride v. Newlin, 61 Pac. 577; 129 Cal. 36; McLean v. Farmers Highline Canal, 44 Colo. 184, 96 Pac. 16; Davitt v. American Bankers, 124 Cal. 99, 56 Pac. 775; Wicks v. Metcalf, 83 Ore. 687, 163 Pac. 434; L. R. A. 1918A 493. What he must show are the facts from which the Court may deduce conclusions with respect to what are proper or necessary remedies. Utah Assn. Creditmen v. Jones, 49 Ut. 519, 164 Pac. 1029; 3 Bancroft Code Pldg. 1548; Schuyler v. Broughton, 65 Cal. 252, 3 Pac. 870; Van Buskirk v. Bond, 52 Ore. 234, 96 Pac. 1103; Galbreath Gas v. Lindsey, 35 Okla. 235, 129 Pac. 45.

From the facts may not the Court conclude that damages would not be an adequate, an efficient or an effective remedy?

In determining whether an action is a law case, or one sounding in equity, the Court looks at the plaintiff's right,

the grievance complained of, and considers the question: What is the proper and effective remedy to protect plaintiff in his rights? If an award of damages, a money judgment, will properly protect plaintiff's rights, the case is one at law; if such judgment would not amply protect plaintiff's rights and redress his wrongs, the action sounds in equity and the Court will administer its equitable powers to achieve the necessary, desirable and proper end. In actions under restrictive covenants in connection with the sale of a business, or of good will, the Courts uniformly hold that the action is equitable, and that the remedy at law is inadequate, and the continued injury in its nature irreparable; that such conclusions are impelled from the type of the case and the wrong complained of, and need not be further pleaded. In a recent case, involving the sale of an abstract business, answering the same point raised here, the Court said:

"It was not necessary, in this kind of case, for the plaintiffs to show irreparable injury, or that they had no adequate remedy at law. *Anderson v. Rowland*, 18 Tex. Civ. App. 460, 44 S. W. 911; *Goldberg vs. Soltes*, Tex. Civ. App.; 32 S. W. 2d 246; *Lomax v. Trull*, Tex. Civ. App. 232 S. W. 861; *Red Ball Stage Lines v. Griffin*, Tex. Civ. App.; 275 S. W. 454; *Clay v. Richardson*, Tex. Civ. App.; 290 S. W. 235. We refer especially to the opinion in *Anderson v. Rowland*, supra.

That plaintiffs need not prove the extent to which they have been injured by the violations of the contract, or that they have been injured at all, may be demonstrated by stating that a threatened violation of this contract might have been enjoined, even though no violation had yet taken place, and though no injury had yet been suffered. The purchasers of a business and good will, where the seller had agreed not to com-

pete, are not bound to wait until the contract has been breached and the damage has been done before seeking an injunction.

As is recognized by the authorities above cited, an injunction may be the only satisfactory relief available in a case of this kind. In no other way can plaintiffs obtain what they purchased from defendant." *Moore v. Duggan Abstract Co., et al*; 154 S. W. 2d 519, 520, 1. We quote from *Anderson v. Rowland*, 44 S. W. 914:

"The mere fact that a breach of the covenant is intended is a sufficient ground for the interference of the court by injunction. A covenantee has the right to have the actual enjoyment of the property *modo et forma*, as stipulated for by him. It is no answer to say that the act complained of will inflict no injury on him, or will be even beneficial to him. It is for the plaintiff to judge whether the agreement shall be kept, as far as he is concerned, or whether he will permit it to be violated. It is not necessary that he should show that any damage has been done. It being established that the acts of the defendant are a violation of the contract, the court will protect the complainant in the enjoyment of the right he has purchased. 2 High, Inj. Para. 1158."

In *Angier v. Webber*, 14 Allen 211, 92 Am. Dec. 748, the Massachusetts court said:

"For this violation of this covenant the plaintiff is entitled to relief in equity. An action at law will furnish no adequate remedy. The damages are, in their nature, such as not to be susceptible of proof or exact computation, and the injury caused by the acts of the defendants is a constantly recurring one, for which multiplied suits at law would afford but an imperfect remedy. 2 Story, Eq. Para. 925; 2 Daniell, Ch. Prac.

1760; Williams v. Williams, 2 Swanst. 253." To same effect 2 High, Inj. (3d Ed.) Para. 1142-1158.

In Lutz v. Western Iron and Metal Company, 190 Cal. 554, 213 Pac., on page 965, the court states thus:

"From the nature of the situation the injury or damage that will accrue to respondent if appellants are permitted to do the threatened acts in the name attempted to be appropriated is plain. A pleader is not required to describe in extenso by a superfluity of words a result that must inevitably follow, provided the premises of a stated proposition be acceded to. Can there be any doubt as to the natural and logical effect the competition described in the complaint would have on respondent's business?"

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